

Open consultation

Local Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales: Access and fairness

Published 15 May 2025

Applies to England and Wales

Contents

Ministerial foreword

About this consultation

Basic information

Introduction

Glossary

- 1 Survivor benefits
- 2. Gender pension gap
- 3. Opt-outs
- 4. Forfeiture
- 5. McCloud remedy
- Other regulation changes
- 7. Administrative impact of proposals
- 8. Public Sector Equality Duty

Summary of proposals and questions

About this consultation

Personal data



© Crown copyright 2025

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit <u>nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3</u> or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: <u>psi@nationalarchives.gov.uk</u>.

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/local-government-pension-scheme-in-england-and-wales-access-and-fairness/local-government-pension-scheme-in-england-and-wales-access-and-fairness

Ministerial foreword

This government cares about the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). We care about the impact it can have at scale, unleashing growth and supporting critical investment in the UK. We also care about the personal experience of the millions of individual members that make up the scheme, members who have often given their whole working lives to public service. As someone who has worked in local government, alongside so many of those members, I care personally about the experience of members in the LGPS.

We know that for many of these members their LGPS benefits will be their largest asset and a vital lifeline when they retire. For them, security and equality of benefits and effectiveness of service and administration are key to the success of the LGPS. We also know that the wider LGPS community relies on the government stewarding the scheme well, both in respecting local decision-making and providing clear and up-to-date Regulations.

That's why we're launching this consultation. It fundamentally improves fairness in and access to the LGPS, addressing key issues that have been neglected for too long and treating them with the urgency they deserve. Its focus on equality, fairness, integrity, efficiency, accuracy and rewarding hard work reflects the government's commitment to making work pay and improving workers' rights.

Some of these changes are definitive answers to long-standing problems, like ensuring equality of survivor benefit entitlement, and some are just the beginning of the work to be done, like the proposals on the gender pension gap, but they are a key and essential step in the right direction. They position the LGPS as leading the way across the public sector pensions landscape.

I hope you'll join me in seeing the opportunity presented in this consultation to make real, lasting, positive impact to LGPS members and the communities they represent.

Jim McMahon OBE MP

Minister of State for Local Government and English Devolution

15 May 2025

About this consultation

Topic of this consultation

This is a consultation on the Local Government Pension Scheme for England and Wales. It covers a number of proposals relating to pension benefits for scheme members.

Geographical scope

These proposals relate to England and Wales

Impact assessment

The government will have regard to the potential impact of any proposal on the Public Sector Equality Duty, as well as any potential impacts on business, local authorities, and communities.

Basic information

Body/bodies responsible for the consultation

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government

Duration

This consultation will last for 12 weeks, launching at 9:30am on 15 May 2025 and closing at 11:59pm on 7 August 2025.

Enquiries:

For any enquiries about the consultation please contact: Memberbenefitsconsultation@communities.gov.uk

How to respond:

All members of the public are invited to respond, although the government recognises that the consultation is mostly relevant to members of the LGPS, employers with members in the scheme, and those involved in the running of the scheme, such as administering authorities.

The government strongly encourages responses via the <u>online survey</u>. Using the online survey greatly assists analysis of the responses, enabling more efficient and effective consideration of the issues raised for each question.

If you are providing a response, please refer to the privacy notice. If answering any questions using a free text box, please do not include any sensitive personal information in your answer. Please only respond to this consultation if you are over 18.

If you are unable to respond via the online survey, printed proformas can be requested from and returned to:

Consultation on LGPS Member Benefits
FAO Local Government Pensions Team
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Local Government Finance Directorate
2nd Floor
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF

Introduction

1. This consultation covers a range of proposals relating to the Local Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales ('the LGPS').

- 2. The government believes that the LGPS is a good pension scheme which should be available to all those who provide the services for which local government is responsible. It provides security in older age for millions of members who have spent their lives in public service, many of whom have been low paid throughout their working lives. Much of this consultation focuses on equal access to the scheme and its benefits.
- 3. Chapter 1 contains proposals to address **survivor pensions and death grants**, and aims to fix historic discrimination and ensure equal access to the scheme, regardless of the sex of the eligible member and those they leave behind on death.
- 4. Chapter 2 contains proposals to address the **Gender Pension Gap** in the LGPS, with a focus on access to the scheme benefits for women. Whilst many of the causes for gender pension gaps may lie in how society is structured and go beyond the LGPS, the government believes there are still steps that it can take to make progress now.
- 5. Chapter 3 contains proposals related to **people who opt out** of the scheme. The government believes the LGPS is a good scheme and views the number of members who opt out with concern. It proposes systematically collecting data about how many members are making this choice, and why.
- 6. Chapter 4 contains proposals related to **forfeiture**, which may be used to remove benefit entitlements for those who have been convicted of crimes that bring public service into disrepute. The government's proposals aim to tackle some long-standing issues with forfeiture in the LGPS.
- 7. Chapters 5 and 6 do not directly relate to access to the scheme, but the government wishes to take the opportunity to make several technical changes, to improve the day-to-day running of the scheme. Chapter 5 covers the **McCloud** remedy, and aims to fix issues with the operation of the McCloud underpin that have only been identified now that administering authorities are working their way through remedy calculations. Chapter 6 covers a number of miscellaneous changes, brought to our attention by the Scheme Advisory Board ('the SAB').
- 8. Finally, the government recognises that these proposals would lead to a large number of changes, that would affect millions of members. Chapter 7 asks for opinions on the potential **administrative impact**. The government is particularly interested in hearing from those who administer the scheme on a daily basis. Since many of these proposals will affect individual members, chapter 8 asks for views on the government's duty under **Public Sector Equality Duty**.
- 9. Subject to consideration of responses to the consultation, the government intends to proceed with a new statutory instrument to implement changes to the LGPS Regulations. A draft Statutory Instrument has been published

alongside this consultation. The government welcomes comments on the legal drafting and will continue to work with the Scheme Advisory Board (SAB) and others before laying a statutory instrument.

About you

Please tell us a bit more about you:

- Q1. What is your name?
- Q2. What is your email address or telephone number?
- Q3. Are you responding to this consultation as an individual or submitting a collective response from a group?
- (Q3.1 If responding on behalf of a group) What is the name of the group or organisation you are submitting a response for?
- (Q3.2 If submitting a collective response) Please provide a summary of the people or organisations you represent and who else you have consulted to reach your responding conclusions.
- Q4. Type of respondent
- Administering authority
- LGPS employer
- LGPS member
- LGPS pool
- Scheme Advisory Board
- Local Government Association
- Government department
- Local government representative
- Union
- Other (please specify)
- Q5. What is the first part of your postcode?

Glossary

AAs – Administering authorities of the LGPS

GAD – Government Actuary's Department

SAB - Scheme Advisory Board for the LGPS

The Benefits Regulations – The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 (S.I. 2007/1166)

The 2011 Regulations – The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 (S.I. 2011/2954)

The 2013 Regulations – The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (S.I. 2013/2356)

The 2014 Regulations – The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Saving and Amendment) Regulations 2014

The 2023 Regulations – The LGPS (Amendment) (No 3) Regulations 2023

The LGPS – The Local Government Pension Scheme in England and Wales

The LGPS NI – The LGPS in Northern Ireland, as defined in legislation

The LGPS Scotland - The LGPS in Scotland, as defined in legislation

The LGPS Regulations – The regulations in law that define the LGPS in England and Wales.

The TPS – The Teacher's Pension Scheme

1. Survivor benefits

Background

10. When a member of the LGPS dies, their survivor (surviving spouse, civil partner or eligible cohabiting partner) will receive pension benefits, in the form of a survivor's pension (regular monthly payment). In some cases, their beneficiary may receive a death grant (lump sum). This applies whether the member was an active, deferred, or pensioner member.

- 11. This chapter of the consultation sets out proposed changes to the LGPS in relation to survivor benefits. Currently, there are cases where survivors of same-sex marriages and same-sex civil partnerships are eligible to receive a more generous pension entitlement than survivors of opposite-sex marriages and opposite-sex civil partnerships. This does not reflect the government's commitment to equality regardless of marriage or partnership status. In addition, parts of the LGPS Regulations still require that cohabiting partners of LGPS members would only be eligible for survivor benefits if a signed declaration form nominated them as the survivor. This nomination requirement has been disapplied by the courts. In relation to death grants, current regulations require a member to have died before age 75 for their beneficiary to receive a death grant. Changes to the Finance Act 2004 mean that age cap is no longer appropriate. Lastly, the LGPS Regulations currently require that a death grant has to be paid to personal representatives if not paid within two years of member death. This affects the charge applied to it even though the Finance Act (No.2) 2015 means this is no longer required.
- 12. The government proposes to equalise the survivor pension entitlement of all members, regardless of the sex of the eligible member or their survivor, and to update regulations on survivor benefits and death grants in relation to these points. Further detail on the background and proposals is set out in the rest of this chapter.

Summary of proposals

13. The proposals are summarised below:

Survivor benefits

Area	Proposal
Pension entitlement equalisation	Modification of the LGPS Regulations to ensure that the survivor pension payable to the survivor of a marriage or civil partnership with a member is calculated in the same way, regardless of the sex or sexual orientation of the member or survivor. This equalisation is proposed to be to the highest level of entitlement currently available (given the date of the marriage or civil partnership) and to be backdated.
Cohabitee survivor pensions	Modification of the Benefits Regulations to remove the requirement for a signed nomination form in the case of qualifying cohabitee survivors, retrospective for any individual who stopped being a member between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014. Additionally, amendment of the

Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 to remove reference to a nomination requirement, with no retrospective application.

Death grants	
Area	Proposal
Age 75 cap	Removal of the age 75 cut-off on eligibility for death grants, backdated for all deaths on or after 1 April 2014.
Personal representatives	Removal of the requirement on administering authorities to pay the death grant to the personal representative where it hasn't been paid within the 2-year limit, applicable for all death grants yet to be paid.

Survivor pension entitlement equalisation

Background

- 14. A survivor pension is an annual pension, paid monthly to an eligible survivor of a scheme member. Over time, survivors of opposite-sex marriages, survivors of same-sex civil partnerships (SSCPs), survivors of cohabiting couples, survivors of same-sex marriages, and survivors of opposite-sex civil partnerships (OSCPs), have all been given eligibility to receive survivor pensions.
- 15. The Equality Act 2010 replaced and consolidated a series of previous pieces of anti-discrimination legislation. This meant that, for the first time, discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation was prohibited. However, the Act also included an exception, in that it was not deemed discriminatory to disregard pensionable service prior to 5 December 2005 when calculating pension entitlement for survivors of same-sex partnerships i.e., the differing treatment of people in same-sex relationships compared to people in opposite-sex relationships was permitted.
- 16. In Walker v Innospec, 2017, a male member brought a case against his private defined benefit scheme, claiming that his male spouse should be entitled to the same survivor benefits which would be paid to a member who predeceased a wife in an opposite-sex marriage. The court found that the spouse's survivor pension should be calculated on the whole period of the member's service (provided they were married at the time of death), as opposed to the period since 5 December 2005. Accordingly, in 2018 the LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 ('the 2014 Regulations') were amended to equalise the final salary survivor

benefit entitlements of surviving same-sex spouses and civil partners with those received by widows of opposite-sex marriages.

- 17. The 2014 Regulations rules on survivor benefits were further amended when OSCPs were introduced in 2019. These amendments specified that for male and female opposite-sex civil partners, the survivor pension should be calculated in the same way as it was for widowers and widows respectively. After this point, the calculation of survivor pension entitlement has been dependent on a number of factors, including whether the 1995, 1998 or 2008 Scheme rules applied, the date the marriage or civil partnership took place, and the specific circumstances in which additional periods of service could be taken into account. The cumulative effect has been that:
- i. Survivors of same-sex marriages, survivors of SSCPs, and female survivors of opposite-sex marriages have had their survivor pension calculated based on the relevant member's service since 1978.
- ii. Male survivors of opposite-sex marriages have had their survivor pension calculated based on the relevant member's service since 1988.
- 18. In Goodwin v Secretary of State for Education, 2020, a female member of the TPS successfully argued that the TPS unlawfully discriminated against women in opposite-sex marriages or civil partnerships, when compared to women in SSCPs. The case highlighted that pensionable service was only considered from 1988 when calculating the survivor pension of an opposite-sex survivor of a woman, whilst service would be considered from 1978 when calculating the survivor pension of a same-sex survivor of a woman. The TPS rules were changed accordingly to provide male survivors of an opposite-sex marriage or civil partnership with a member with the same entitlement as all other survivors of a marriage or civil partnership with a member.
- 19. The LGPS in England and Wales has similar rules to survivor eligibility as the TPS, but has not changed its approach to calculating survivor benefits since the Goodwin case. The LGPS in Scotland ('the LGPS Scotland') and the LGPS in Northern Ireland ('the LGPS NI') have changed their approaches following the case, backdating those changes to the point at which the relevant regulations came into force. In both the LGPS Scotland and the LGPS NI the changes were backdated to 1 April 2015. This is the date on which the LGPS (Transitional Provisions and Savings) (Scotland) Regulations 2014 and the LGPS (Amendment and Transitional Provisions) (Northern Ireland) Regulations 2014 came into force (and the date on which the career average revalued earnings (CARE) schemes were introduced in Scotland and Northern Ireland). The amendments were made so that the changes applied in relation to the death of any member after 5 December 2005, the date that SSCPs were first introduced. The changes being proposed here are intended to have the same effect, that they will in

effect be backdated to cover any death of a member after the date that the relevant relationship type was first introduced.

- 20. The government proposes to amend the survivor benefit rules of the LGPS, to ensure that all survivors are treated equally with regards to entitlement to survivor pensions, regardless of the sex of either the eligible member or their survivor. This uplift would include addressing the point highlighted in Goodwin, of the male spouse or civil partner of a female member being treated less favourably than the female spouse or civil partner of a female member.
- 21. The government has identified that in the majority of cases, the most generous benefit entitlement is that due to survivors of SSCPs. In a small number of cases there is no comparable benefit entitlement due to survivors of SSCPs (because the point of comparison comes from before the introduction of SSCPs), in which case the most generous benefit entitlement due is to female survivors of opposite-sex marriages.
- 22. As a remedy, the government proposes to amend the 2014 Regulations to ensure that all survivor benefits are calculated by uplifting the entitlement of all groups to either the entitlement due to survivors of SSCPs, or when that is not applicable, to the benefit entitlement due to female survivors of opposite-sex marriages. This would go further than uplifting the entitlement of male survivors of an opposite-sex marriage or civil partnership.
- 23. The government proposes that the survivor benefits due to eligible members should also be backdated, to the point at which the underlying relationship types were recognised in UK law:
- i. For widows of opposite-sex marriages and widowers of opposite-sex marriages, backdating for deaths that occurred from 5th December 2005.
- ii. For widows of same-sex marriages and widowers of same-sex marriages, backdating for deaths that occurred from 13th March 2014.
- iii. For survivors of opposite-sex civil partnerships, backdating for deaths that occurred from 31st December 2019
 - Q1 Do you agree with the government's proposed amendment of survivor benefits rules?
 - Q2 Do you have any comments on the intended approach to equalising survivor benefits?

Q3 – Do you have any comments on the administrative impact, particularly in identifying cases where calculations of past benefits would need to be revisited?

Q4 – Do you have any further comments on the proposed changes?

Cohabitee survivor pensions

Background

- 24. When the Benefits Regulations came into effect on 1 April 2008, cohabiting partners were recognised in the LGPS for the first time. To simplify administration, the government introduced the category of 'nominated cohabiting partner' within the Benefits Regulations.
- 25. To be considered a nominated cohabiting partner, several conditions had to be met by the cohabitees, which were set out in the regulations. In addition, the scheme member would need to submit a signed declaration to the administering authority to confirm the eligibility requirements had been satisfied and that the member wished their survivor benefits to be paid to their cohabitee. In the absence of this signed form no survivor benefit would be paid, even if the cohabiting partner had satisfied all other eligibility criteria.
- 26. In Brewster (2017) UKSC 8, a survivor of a member of the LGPS NI challenged the scheme in respect of rules providing that cohabiting partners could only receive a survivor pension if their partner had duly nominated them. The Supreme Court ruled that this requirement was a form of unlawful discrimination and disapplied the rule. The ruling established that if all conditions other than the signed nomination form could be met, the survivor would be deemed eligible.
- 27. The LGPS maintained a similar nomination requirement from 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2014, until it was removed in the 2014 Regulations. However, the requirement of a signed nomination form for benefits related to members who died between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014 was not removed.
- 28. In Elmes (2018) the rules in the Benefits Regulations were challenged, on the requirement for members to have a signed nomination form in order for their cohabiting partner to be eligible for survivor benefits. The High Court granted a declaration that the requirement to nominate a cohabiting partner as a condition of eligibility was incompatible with the European Convention on Human Rights. The judgment disapplied the nomination

requirement in the LGPS and applied the same remedy as in Brewster (2017).

- 29. In 2021, the department issued a letter (<u>Letter to Funds</u> (PDF, 117KB)) to administering authorities in the LGPS, with a related statement being issued by the Local Government Pensions Committee (<u>LGPC Bulletin 161</u> (PDF, 249 KB), that provided non-statutory guidance that allowed administering authorities to rely on the Brewster judgement and the Human Rights Act 1998 to not require a surviving partner to have been nominated. Though the Benefits Regulations have not been updated, the government's expectation is therefore that administering authorities have in practice disapplied the nomination requirement.
- 30. Additionally, it has been identified that there is also a nomination requirement in the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 ("the 2011 Regulations"). This requirement was originally required because the drafting of these Regulations was carried out in line with the then current LGPS Scheme, as defined in the Benefits Regulations, which required cohabiting partners to be nominated. As the nomination requirement in the Benefits Regulations is no longer suitable, the government is proposing to remove the nomination requirement in the context of an injury also.

- 31. The government now proposes to amend the Benefits Regulations to formally remove the nomination requirement for all deaths that occurred between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014. This will align the scheme's rules with the declaration disapplying the nomination requirement that the High Court provided for in Elmes (2018). This will mean that for any death that occurred between those two dates, qualifying cohabitees will be entitled to a survivor's pension, although as above the expectation is that these survivors will have already been receiving their pension.
- 32. To qualify, a cohabitee must fulfil all conditions already set out in regulations other than the signed nomination. This is to say, a cohabitee will qualify for a survivor pension without a signed nomination form under this remedy if:
- a. The relevant member had been active in the scheme on or after 1 April 2008;
- b. The relevant scheme member's death occurred between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014; and
- c. The survivor had met the following conditions for a continuous period of at least 2 years on the date the relevant member died:
- The member and the survivor would be able to marry, or form a civil partnership; and

- The member and the survivor were living together as if they were spouses or as if they were civil partners; and
- Neither the member nor the survivor was living with a third person as if they were spouses or as if they were civil partners; and
- Either the survivor was financially dependent on the member, or the member and the survivor were financially interdependent.
- 33. As the Benefits Regulations have been revoked (subject to some exceptions), the government proposes to make these changes through an amendment to regulation 3 of the 2014 Regulations. This provides that, insofar as the Benefits Regulations continue to have effect for the purposes of those exceptions, they apply with modifications.
- 34. The government proposes to apply these changes from the date the signed nomination form was required, and so the relevant change is backdated to apply from 1 April 2008. In making any changes to the LGPS's rules, the government is mindful to manage costs. As stated in the judgement in the case of Harvey, R (On the Application Of) v London Borough of Haringey & Anor, 2018, pre-2008 schemes did not make provision for survivor pensions for cohabitees. This influenced the contribution levels set for employees and employers across the LGPS before 2008. If cohabitees were to be recognised, local government employers and employees would have to cover the costs. The government therefore does not propose to extend benefits to cohabitees of members who have not contributed to the LGPS on or after 1 April 2008. In effect, the government is not proposing to backdate earlier than 1 April 2008.
- 35. Regarding the 2011 Regulations, the government is proposing to also remove the nomination requirement from these regulations, with no retrospective application. The decision to not backdate the change in this case is because payments to survivors under the 2011 Regulations are discretionary, as opposed to an entitlement, and the government does not intend to revisit cases where the decision to award payment has already been made.
 - Q5 Do you agree with the government's proposals to formalise the removal of the nomination requirement?
 - Q6 Do you have any comments on the government's proposals to formalise the removal of the nomination requirement?
 - Q7 Do you have any comments on the proposed approach to backdating?

Death grants (age 75 cap)

Background

- 36. In the LGPS, death grants are lump sums paid to beneficiaries of eligible members, due from the day after death. In most cases, the lump sum is initially set at 10 times the member's annual pension amount and reduces to nil over the 10 years following pension payment commencement. This is intended to ensure members or their beneficiaries receive a minimum pension benefit equal to 10 years pension regardless of when a member dies.
- 37. In the LGPS, Normal Pension Age (NPA) is equal to an individual's State Pension Age (SPA), which means that as SPA has risen NPA has followed. As a result, the age 75 death grant cap has become outdated, and beneficiaries of individuals who retired at an NPA over 65 have unintentionally been potentially excluded from death grant eligibility. For example, the beneficiary of an individual who retired at 66 (in line with their NPA and SPA) and then died between their 75th and 76th birthdays, would have been excluded from death grant eligibility.
- 38. Additionally, as the LGPS is a registered pension scheme, it must comply with overriding legislation, as made by the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) and HM Treasury (HMT), that applies to all such schemes. In 2004, HMT legislated that death grants could only be paid in respect of members who died before age 75 and the current LGPS Regulations adopted that position. On 6 April 2011, HMT removed that age cut-off, but the current LGPS rules have not been updated accordingly and the cut-off remains.

- 39. The government now proposes to amend the 2013 Regulations to remove reference to an age 75 limit on eligibility for death grant payments, and to amend the 2014 Regulations to disapply the age 75 limit on death grants for individuals to whom the rules of the previous schemes continue to apply and who died on or after 1 April 2014.
- 40. The effect of the proposed changes is to remove the age 75 cut-off from LGPS Regulations, retrospective for all deaths of eligible members on or after 1 April 2014. The government understands that administering authorities have access to records enabling them to identify members eligible for the retrospective element of the proposal.
- 41. This proposal would align the LGPS in England and Wales with the LGPS NI, which removed it with retrospective effect to 1 April 2015 (the date at which the reformed legislation was introduced).

- Q8 Do you agree with the proposed amendments to death grants?
- Q9 Do you have any comments on the government's proposals to remove the age 75 cut-off from the LGPS Regulations?
- Q10 Do you have any comments on the proposed approach to backdating?
- Q11 Do you have any comments on the administrative impact, particularly in identifying historic cases where death grants that were not paid would now be paid?

Death grants (personal representatives)

Background

- 42. When a death grant is payable, the death grant goes to either the person the member nominated as their beneficiary, or to their personal representatives or any other person that the administering authority deems to have been a relative or a dependant.
- 43. This may involve the administering authority having to decide the appropriate recipient of the death grant , and this can take time. The LGPS Regulations set a time limit for the administering authority to make that decision. Regulations 40(4), 43(4) and 46(5) of the 2013 Regulations require that where a death grant is payable, and if the administering authority has not made a payment within 2 years of the death (or the date the administering authority could reasonably be expected to have known about the death), payment must be made to the member's personal representatives i.e., to the member's estate. Where a death grant is paid to the estate outside the two-year time limit, it will be subject to the Special Lump Sum Death Benefits Charge (SLSDBC) of 45%.
- 44. The Finance (No.2) Act 2015 amended the Finance Act 2004 to provide that defined lump sum death benefits were no longer unauthorised payments if they were paid beyond the two-year limit. Accordingly, from 6 April 2016, death grants paid beyond the 2-year limit are subject to either the 45% SLSDBC if paid to personal representatives, or the recipient's marginal rate of tax if paid to beneficiaries. However, as the current LGPS Regulations require that beyond the two-year limit the death grant must be paid to the personal representatives, the 45% charge is always applied.

45. The government is proposing to remove the requirement that beyond the two-year limit the death grant must be paid to the personal representatives i.e., to remove the two-year limit. This will align the LGPS Regulations with the Finance Act 2004 (as amended by the Finance (No.2) Act 2015 and reduce instances of the Special Lump Sum Death Benefits Charge. This is intended to apply to all deaths where the death grant has not yet been paid. It is also proposed that where the same two-year limit applies to AVCs it will also be removed, by removing Regulation 17(14) of the 2013 Regulations.

Q12 – Do you agree with the proposal to remove the two-year limit?

Q13 – Do you have any comments on the government's proposal to remove the two-year limit?

2. Gender pension gap

Background

- 46. 74% of the 6.7 million members of the LGPS are women, and there is a significant gender pension gap. Analysis by the Government Actuary's Department (GAD) has shown that for the post-2014 Career Average Revalued Earnings scheme, the average pension accrued is 34.7% lower for a woman than a man, and for the pre-2014 final salary scheme the gap is 46%.
- 47. The outcome is that millions of low-paid women working to provide local public services have worse pensions than their male counterparts. Many of the reasons for the gap are not in scope of MHCLG's role as the responsible authority for the LGPS, such as greater part-time working and caring responsibilities for women. Pensions are a function of pay, and so any gender pay gap will always translate to a gender pension gap.
- 48. The government believes that, beyond differences in pay and part-time working, the periods of a woman's career when she is not accruing a pension contribute significantly to the gap. Across the course of a woman's life, such gaps such as taking unpaid maternity leave or taking an unpaid absence to look after children or perform other caring responsibilities all add up. The government believes there are 4 specific areas that LGPS requirements could be changed to address this gap.

Authorised absences under 31 days

- 49. Regulations 11 to 14 of the 2013 Regulations determine contributions during a member's absence from work, depending on the type of absence. Authorised unpaid absences under 31 days in the LGPS are not automatically pensionable, with the exception of sickness, ordinary maternity and adoption and paternity leave. Instead, under regulation 16, when the member returns to work, they can choose to buy back the pension lost during the absence.
- 50. The government understands from the SAB that most members who take authorised unpaid absence do not buy back the pension lost. The process to buy back the pension is complex. It requires members to know the option is available, to decide that they want to spend their money on doing so, and to write to their employer making an application. An actuarial calculation is then needed to determine how much the member has to pay. All of this has to happen within the first 30 days of returning to work, for the employer to contribute 2/3rds of the cost. Most members do not go through this process, and pension is not accrued for the absence.
- 51. This process disproportionately penalises women, because it is mostly women who take such unpaid leave. Data from the SAB shows that across two example funds, 90% of unpaid leave is taken by women. It is a particular problem for LGPS staff in schools, who cannot take annual leave during term time. When a child is sick at short-notice or there are unexpected caring responsibilities, it appears it is more often a woman who takes the time off work, and so it is more often a woman who ends up with a gap in pensionable service.
- 52. The government proposes to return to the approach used for authorised unpaid absences in the LGPS before 2014, where authorised unpaid absences under 31 days were automatically pensionable for all members. Both employee and employer contributions would be made, based on the member's lost earnings, and pension would continue to be accrued. The intent is to make catching up with small gaps in pensionable service the default option. Considering the demographics of members taking such leave, it is expected that this will lead to female members having fewer periods where no pension is built up.
- 53. The proposal is to amend regulation 11 to create a new regulation 11(5) in the draft SI.
- 54. For such unpaid leave under 31 days, there are two options for how the lost earnings could be calculated for the purpose of determining contributions for the period: with reference to assumed pensionable pay (APP), or the actual lost pay for the period.

- 55. The government recognises that in certain circumstances the use of one method over the other can result in a significantly different cost to the member. APP uses the average of the member's pensionable pay in the three months preceding the unpaid leave and includes non-contractual pay such as overtime. Lost pay uses the actual pay as per the contract, and so does not include non-contractual pay. If there is a significant change in a member's pensionable pay just before the period of unpaid leave, such as if a member goes part-time or receives a large promotion, or if the member works a significant amount of non-contractual overtime each month, then the choice between lost pay and APP can lead to significantly different outcomes.
- 56. The government's preference is to use actual pay lost. This has been chosen because in most cases it would most closely match what the member would have paid had she or he not taken unpaid leave. Lost pay is the method already being used in the LGPS Scotland and should be easier for administrators. However, the government is keen to hear views from administrators. Both options have been included in the draft SI accompanying this consultation (amendments to regulation 21 and creation of a 21a).
 - Q14 Do you agree that the LGPS Regulations should be updated so that any unpaid leave under 31 days is pensionable, as a way to address the gender pension gap?
 - Q15 Do you agree the government should use the actual lost pay option when calculating contributions, or do you think APP should be the chosen option? Please explain the reasons for your view.

Cost of buying back pension lost in an unpaid break of over 30 days

- 57. The government believes that the cost of buying back lost pension for unpaid absences over 30 days disproportionately affects female members of the scheme. The total cost of buying back lost pension is calculated in accordance with Regulation 16(7) of the 2013 Regulations, using actuarial factors that account for age and gender. Where a member chooses to buy the pension back within the time limit, currently 30 days after returning to work, the total cost is split two-thirds to the employer, one-third to the employee, in accordance with Regulation 15(5).
- 58. The pension contribution rate for active members is determined by Regulation 9 or 10, and by the member's pensionable pay, not their age or

gender. When buying back lost pension, factors based on age and gender are used, and the effect of this can be that the cost to members is greater than the contributions they would have paid had they not taken the leave.

- 59. Analysis by GAD shows that the cost of buying back lost pension under the current method is generally cheaper for younger male members of the scheme, compared to the cost if the member had not taken the leave, and so more expensive for older and female members of the scheme. This is because under the current regulations the factors used to determine the cost are based on age and gender so that the cost of providing pension is generally more for women (who tend to live longer) and older members.
- 60. The government has considered 3 options for how the cost could be calculated when a member makes an election within the time limit:
- a. restructure the sharing of costs to align members' and employers' contributions with the standard member contributions that would have been payable under the scheme if the member had not been on unpaid leave
- b. change the share of costs which fall to employers and to members
- c. design a new method which redistributes the cost between members and the scheme employers
- 61. The government's preference is option A, to align with standard member contributions, which are based on members' pay. GAD's analysis has shown that this will have a direct impact on the cost for female members of the scheme. There is no direct evidence that proposal B would improve outcomes for female members. If proposal B were to make the cost of buying back unpaid leave cheaper for members, then it could be assumed that take-up of the option to buy back might increase, but there is no detailed data on existing take-up by female and male members of the scheme, and so it cannot be evidenced that it would improve the gender pension gap. Proposal C has been discounted because it would require designing a new approach, with associated set-up costs.
- 62. Proposal A requires the addition of a new regulation (16(8A)) to the 2013 Regulations, so that the cost of buying back authorised unpaid leave over 30 days is what a member would have paid if they had not taken any leave. The current method that uses gender and age factors would still apply for members desiring to pay extra to boost their pension, including where the employer voluntarily pays towards the cost.
- 63. The government also proposes to extend the time-limit to buy back any lost pension during unpaid absences with permission, from 30 days to one year. This proposal gives members more time to understand their options and may make it more affordable as they will have more time to recover financially from the reduction in pay. This proposal would be achieved by amending Regulation 16(16) of the 2013 Regulations. If members elect to

buy back their unpaid leave pension within the new time limit, the employer would also be required to pay the standard employer contributions for that period.

64. The government also proposes to remove the three-year time limit on compulsory employer contributions on unpaid leave provided by Regulation 15(6). There is no clear rationale for a time limit, nor for it to be 3 years. Removing the 3-year limit would increase employer costs in some situations, such as where a member has been on authorised unpaid leave for over three years and opts to buy back pension on their return.

Q16 – Do you agree with the proposal to align the cost of buying back unpaid leave over 30 days with standard member contribution rates?

Q17 – Do you agree with the proposal to change the time-limit for buying back unpaid leave pension absences from 30 days to 1 year?

Q18 – Do you agree with removing the three-year limit on employer contributions in Regulation 15(6)?

Pension contributions during child-related leave

65. In the LGPS, when a member is on child-related leave it is still pensionable and contributions must be paid, on any pensionable pay received as per Regulation 12 of the 2013 LGPS Regulations. Child-related leave includes:

- ordinary adoption or maternity leave
- additional adoption or maternity leave during which the member receives some pensionable pay
- neonatal care leave during which the member receives some pensionable pay
- paternity leave
- shared parental leave during which the member receives some pensionable pay
- parental bereavement leave during which the member receives some pensionable pay

66. One of the most significant gaps in a woman's pensionable service is often maternity or adoption leave. In the LGPS, a woman who takes the full 52 weeks that she is entitled to under statutory maternity leave, will take 26

weeks of ordinary maternity leave (pensionable), 13 weeks of additional maternity leave where some pensionable pay is received (pensionable for those who receive pensionable pay during this period) and 13 weeks of additional maternity leave where no pensionable pay is received (not pensionable).

- 67. The government proposes to make additional maternity leave, additional adoption leave and shared parental leave during which no pay is received automatically pensionable, with the cost to be met by the employer.
- 68. This would be achieved by amending the definition of "child-related leave" in the 2013 Regulations to include additional maternity leave, additional adoption leave and shared parental leave during which the member receives no pay. This would have the effect of all additional maternity or adoption leave and shared parental leave being fully pensionable, with no contributions payable by the employee for any leave that is unpaid. Where the member is not entitled to any pay during additional maternity/adoption leave, this proposal means an additional 26 weeks will be automatically pensionable.
- 69. The government recognises that this proposal is a significant improvement in terms for women who take the full year of statutory maternity leave, and both men and women who take up adoption leave. It should also encourage take up of shared parental leave.
- 70. The government is mindful that this would be a new requirement for LGPS employers, to increase support for employees during maternity, adoption or shared parental leave. The government believes that the cost would be affordable, both at the individual level (as in most cases it is time-limited to only 13 weeks of accrual) and at the fund-wide level (as the overall number of members who would take the full year of child-related leave in each valuation period is likely to be relatively small in the context of the entire fund). GAD has estimated this proposal might cost the scheme under £1 million in increased contributions per year, although we do not have data on the number of members who do not receive pensionable pay during the first 13 weeks of additional maternity, adoption or shared parental leave.

Q19 – Do you agree with updating the definition of child-related leave to include all periods of additional maternity, adoption and shared parental leave without pay?

Making gender pension gap reporting mandatory in the LGPS

- 71. Gender pay gap reporting is now well-established in the UK, having been mandatory for employers with at least 250 employees since 2017. Gender pension gap reporting is not as well-established but is a growing area of interest.
- 72. In the LGPS, information on the difference between accrued pensions of men and women is not routinely collected. The government proposes to change that by making gender pension gap reporting mandatory in the LGPS. The intent is to both gather data to understand the gap better, and encourage employers to focus on what factors may be contributing to any such gaps.
- 73. The government proposes that administering authorities would be required to report on two metrics: their fund-wide gender pension gap and their gender pension saving gap as defined in paragraph 79 (below). This would be reported in the fund actuarial valuation report every 3 years (as well as in the annual report of that year).
- 74. The government believes the actuarial report, and not the annual report, would be the appropriate place for reporting, because the slower movement of gender pension gaps would better align with the 3-yearly cycle of valuation reports. The actuarial valuations already consider demographic data, and so the addition of gender pension gap data is not considered to be likely to be onerous.
- 75. The proposed implementation of this proposal is from the 2025 valuation onwards. The government recognises this timeframe may be ambitious but believes the importance of the issues necessitates fast action. As actuarial firms have already started work on the 2025 valuation, the government will continue to work with GAD, the SAB, and actuarial firms on the data that will be needed to meet the new requirements.
- 76. The government also believes that there would be value in a more granular view of gender pension gaps at the employer level. This would help administering authorities identify employers where there are specific issues (e.g., the issue of authorised unpaid leave in the education sector given above) and to take steps to understand and tackle such gaps. However, this would be a new requirement, and for smaller employers may be less meaningful and more difficult to calculate. The government proposes that only employers with at least 100 employees would be required to report in such a way. The expectation would be that actuarial valuation report would contain the gender pension gap and savings gap for such employers. It is

proposed that this would be included in the Rates and Adjustments Certificate, which already lists all employers in a fund. Administering authorities would also have the option of grouping certain types of employers to gather insights.

- 77. The government will work with the SAB to review gender pension gaps once the reporting process has been embedded. It is recognised that the calculation of gender pension gaps will have complications, such as whether casual workers are included or not, and the government intends to work with the SAB on guidance for reporting requirements.
- 78. The government proposes to define the gender pension gap as 'the percentage difference in the LGPS pension income built up for male and female scheme members over a typical working life'. The government also suggests a further definition of the gender pension savings gap as 'the percentage difference in the LGPS pension accrued annually for male and female scheme members. These definitions are adopted from the Pension Equity Steering Group, in collaboration with the SAB.
 - Q20 Do you agree that gender pension gap reporting should be mandatory in the LGPS?
 - Q21 Do you agree that the 2025 valuation (and associated fund annual reports) is preferable?
 - Q22 Do you agree with the threshold of 100 employees for defining which employers must report on their gender pension gap?
 - Q23 Do you agree with the gender pension gap definition being 'the percentage difference in the pension income for men and women over a typical working life'?
 - Q24 Do you agree with the gender pension savings gap being 'the percentage difference in the pension savings accrued over one year for men and women'?

3. Opt-outs

Background

- 79. The LGPS is a good pension scheme which plays an important role in providing security in later life for its members. Members may have good reasons for opting out of the scheme but in general remaining in the scheme is likely to be in their long-term interests.
- 80. Collecting and reporting data on members opting out of the LGPS is not required under current legislation and so is limited. A Local Government Association survey of administering authorities in June 2024 showed opt-out rates ranged from 3% to 40% of members. Further, only 35% of respondents to that survey said that they routinely review the number of members who have opted out of the scheme.
- 81. The government proposes to make it mandatory for administering authorities to collect and report data on the rate of members opting out of the scheme. The government wants to understand who is opting out, and why, and proposes the structured collection of demographic and equalities data of those who choose to opt-out.
- 82. The government proposes that the percentage rate of opt-outs will be required to be published in the Annual Report of each administering authority through amending Regulation 57 of the 2013 Regulations.
- 83. The government proposes that the opt-out form that members fill out when they leave should be updated. Additionally, regarding the collection of demographic and equalities data, the government will also create a separate survey on Gov Forms that the employee would be asked to fill in, and when completed, it would automatically return to MHCLG. The Gov Forms platform has been selected as it allows information to be provided to MHCLG directly, anonymously and handled securely, in line with legal requirements on data protection. This information would not be published and would be used in its anonymised state to build an evidence base as to why people choose to opt-out of the scheme.
- 84. At the administering authority level, it is considered necessary for administering authorities to hold this data on the number of opt-outs so they can assess how effective the scheme is as a recruitment and retention tool, and so they can properly assess the fund's maturity and plan future cashflow.
- 85. Depending on the evidence and trends identified for opt-outs, the government may consider further action. An increase in the numbers of members opting out of the scheme is an issue not just for government or the pension fund, but also for employers, and the solution must be sought together, whether through further changes to regulations, guidance or communications with members.

Publication of opt-out data in the Annual Report

- 86. The government proposes to add reporting on the rate of opt-outs to the requirements for an Annual Report, through Regulation 57 of the 2013 LGPS Regulations. The opt-out rate published would be the total number of current employees who have opted out of the scheme, divided by the total number of current employees eligible to be a member of the LGPS, at fund level. The government will clarify the detail of this proposal, such as at what date the rate is, and if employees on contracts under 3 months are included, through updated Annual Report guidance.
- 87. The Annual Report has been selected as the place for such reporting, because government believes that opt-out levels are sensitive to economic conditions, and so regular reporting is necessary. It is not intended for reporting on opt-outs to be onerous, and the expectation is that in line with the updated guidance, administering authorities will request from employers the total number of those eligible to participate in the scheme and the number of those that have opted-out at the time of the annual report data collection to meet this requirement.
 - Q25 Do you agree that the annual report is the best method of reporting data on those who choose to opt-out of the scheme?
 - Q26 Do you foresee any issues with administering authorities' ability to gather data on opt-outs?
 - Q27 When updating the annual report guidance to reflect opt-out data collection, what information would be most useful to include?

Collection of additional opt-out data

- 88. Beyond a headline figure, the government is interested in who is choosing to opt-out of the scheme and why.
- 89. The government proposes to publish a Gov Form alongside the new opt-out form that administering authorities should be using when a member chooses to opt out. The current opt-out form does not have to include a section for members to say why they are opting out, nor their personal circumstances. Whilst some administering authorities do already collect this information, the government intends to formalise its collection. Our proposal is to add a new Regulation (5(6)) to the 2013 Regulations:

A notice under paragraph (2) must be given in the form approved for that purpose from time to time by the Local Government Pension Scheme Advisory Board.

- 90. The new proposed optional Gov form will ask members their reasons for opting out, as well as additional information on profession type, working hours and salary, gender, age, ethnicity, marital status and dependants. This form can be completed by employees at their discretion at the time in which they choose to opt-out of the scheme.
 - Q28 Do you agree with the proposal to collect additional data about those opting out of the scheme?
 - Q29 Are you an employer, part of an administering authority or member of a pensions board?
 - Q30 Do you have any comments on the collection of additional information?

4. Forfeiture

Background

- 91. Many public service pension schemes, including the LGPS, provide that under certain circumstances a member's accrued pension rights may be forfeited. A forfeiture certificate of LGPS benefits is only issued in cases where a member has been convicted of an offence deemed to be gravely injurious to the state or liable to lead to a serious loss of confidence in the public service. Further, employers may recover against any financial losses they have incurred as a result of the offence rather than issue a forfeiture direction after issue of the certificate. Forfeiture provisions for the LGPS are set out in regulations 91 to 95 of the 2013 Regulations.
- 92. The government has 4 proposals, intended to make the forfeiture process work better and fix known issues with current regulations:
- a. to remove the requirement that a member must have left employment because of the offence for forfeiture to be possible
- b. to abolish the current three-month time limit for an application to be made

- c. to remove the current regulations around interim payment directions
- d. to publish guidance on making a forfeiture application

Removing the requirement that a member must have left employment because of the offence

- 93. For an offence to be a "relevant offence" for the purposes of the forfeiture regulations, the member must have left employment because of the offence. This means that there have been cases where a member is convicted in connection with their employment, but the member has already left the employment before the crime was discovered, and so a forfeiture application could not be made.
- 94. The government proposes to remove the requirement that a member must have left their employment because of the offence in order for the LGPS employer to be able to make an application for a forfeiture certificate or to recover against a monetary obligation. There would be no change to the threshold for when the Secretary of State can issue a forfeiture certificate, nor the requirement that the member is no longer in employment. The LGPS employer would still take the final decision on whether to forfeit benefits and, if so, the extent of the benefits forfeited. Benefits already paid out would not fall within scope of forfeiture.
- 95. This proposal would allow for applications for forfeiture certificates to be made regardless of whether the individual left employment because of the offence, ensuring that historic crimes and those where the member sought to conceal their actions can be within scope of the forfeiture provisions. It would also bring the LGPS in line with other public service pension schemes on this issue, including the NHS Pension Scheme, the Police Pension Scheme, the Civil Service Pension Scheme and the Teachers' Pension Scheme.
- 96. This proposed amendment to regulation 91 would not be retrospective. The change would not apply to any application for a forfeiture certificate in respect of a relevant offence of which a member was convicted on or before three months before the coming-into-force date of the new regulations. LGPS employers would not be able to bring an application in respect of any offence for which the current time limits had expired, i.e. a case where more than 3 months has expired from the date of conviction.
- 97. The government has also considered if there would be any indirect retrospective adverse effect from the proposal. A member who committed an offence in relation to their employment before this amendment came into force, left their employment for a reason other than the offence, and who is

subsequently convicted of said offence within three months of the coming into force date (or afterwards), could be in scope of forfeiture. For the overwhelming majority of law-abiding LGPS members, this amendment would have no effect. The amendment would potentially be relevant to a very small number of members who have committed and are subsequently convicted of an offence in connection with their employment. If an application for a forfeiture certificate is made and granted in respect of such a member, that may result in a reduction of the pension payable to that member. However, whilst the member may see this as an adverse effect, the government does not consider that this can be attributed to the broadening of the circumstances in which a forfeiture application can be brought. The government's view is that this should be seen as an adverse effect of the member's own criminal conduct and that such adverse effects. if they materialised, would not be significant in the context of the scheme as a whole. The government's view is that the enhanced consultation procedure under section 23 of the Public Service Pensions Act 2013 therefore does not apply.

Q31 – Do you agree that the government should amend regulations 91 and 93 of the 2013 Regulations to remove the requirement that the member must have left employment because of the offence in order for an LGPS employer to be able to make an application for a forfeiture certificate or to recover against a monetary obligation?

Removing the time limit to make a forfeiture application

- 98. Regulation 91(8) of the 2013 Regulations requires the LGPS employer to make any application to the Secretary of State for a forfeiture certificate within three months of the date of conviction. This is a stricter time limit than in other public service pension schemes. For example, there is no equivalent limit in the NHS Pension Scheme, the Police Pension Scheme, the Civil Service Pension Scheme or the Teachers' Pension Scheme. The time limit has led to cases where forfeiture was not possible as an application could not be made in time.
- 99. The government is therefore proposing to remove the time limit of 3 months to make an application. Abolishing the 3-month time limit to make an application means there will be no circumstances when the employer is unable to make the application in time. Whilst it is intended for this flexibility to help employers make applications, the government would still encourage employers to make applications in a timely manner. If there is a substantial delay between the member being convicted and sentenced and the scheme

employer applying for a forfeiture certificate, that may be relevant to the Secretary of State's decision as to whether the offence is gravely injurious to the State or liable to lead to a serious loss of confidence on the public service.

- 100. Under the current LGPS Regulations, the 3-month time limit starts from the date of conviction. Under the proposal to remove the time limit, there is no start date, but conviction remains a prior requirement for an application. The government however considers both the sentence given and sentencing remarks as part of the decision whether or not to issue a certificate, and will only consider applications where both of these have been provided.
- 101. The government is proposing that this change should only apply in respect of persons for whom the existing time limit in regulation 91(8) of the 2013 Regulations had not expired at the point that these changes come into force. Removing the link and the 3-month time limit will only apply from the date a member was convicted on or before 3 months before the amendment to regulations comes into force. For example, if the proposed regulations were to come into force on 1 October 2025, and a member had been convicted of a relevant offence on 30 June, then the 3-month limit would have already expired before this amendment, and a forfeiture application would not be possible. The coming into force date will be determined later in the year, subject to this consultation.

Q32 – Do you agree that the three month time limit for an LGPS employer to make an application for a forfeiture certificate should be removed?

Revoking Regulation 92

- 102. Regulation 92 of the 2013 Regulations allows LGPS employers to give an 'interim payments direction' to the appropriate administering authority. An interim payments direction can be given once a forfeiture certificate has been issued and requires the administering authority to pay some or all of the benefits that would be due to the member whilst the LGPS employer decides whether or not to give a forfeiture direction.
- 103. An interim payments direction may only be given where the recipient would otherwise be entitled to receive payment under the scheme, and so in practice this provision may not be commonly used, as administering authorities can continue to use the standard powers to pay benefits under the scheme up to and until the point at which a forfeiture direction is

made. As such, the government believes that Regulation 92 is not necessary and proposes revoking it.

Q33 – Do you agree that Regulation 92 of the 2013 Regulations should be revoked?

Forfeiture in relation to benefits accrued in earlier schemes

104. In addition to the amendments to the 2013 Regulations as discussed above, in order to give full effect to these proposals, the government also intend to make equivalent modifications to forfeiture provisions across earlier schemes. This will ensure that the forfeiture rules will apply in the same way to benefits accrued in respect of service before 1 April 2014. The government proposes to do this by inserting a new regulation 23A into the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 ('the 2014 Regulations'), which provides that the forfeiture provisions in the 2013 Regulations apply in respect of any benefits accrued under the earlier schemes.

Q34 – Do you agree that in order to give full effect to the proposed amendments, equivalent modifications should apply to earlier schemes?

Forfeiture guidance

105. In other public service pension schemes, guidance is available to the scheme employer when making an application to the relevant body in cases of forfeiture, but no such guidance exists for the LGPS. The government proposes to publish guidance for forfeiture applications, and to work with the SAB in drafting such guidance.

Q35 – Do you agree that there should be forfeiture guidance to assist employers in making applications?

5. McCloud remedy

Background

106. In recent years, the government has taken steps to address the findings of the McCloud case for public service pension schemes. In that case, the Court of Appeal found that transitional protections given to older members of public service pension schemes when schemes were reformed in 2015 had unlawfully discriminated against younger members on grounds of age.

107. The Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Act 2022 provides the framework within which the McCloud remedy operates, and in October 2023 MHCLG laid a set of McCloud-related LGPS regulations. These regulations extended underpin protection to the younger members of the scheme in order to remedy the discrimination found by the courts.

108. This section proposes further McCloud-related changes to the LGPS Regulations. The intention is to address issues with the operation of the underpin that have only been identified now that administering authorities are working their way through remedy calculations.

Divorce credits

109. Regulation 12 of the LGPS (Amendment) (No 3) Regulations 2023 ('the 2023 Regulations') – Divorce or dissolution of civil partnership before 1st October 2023 – says that for members who were divorced (or dissolved a civil partnership) before 1st October 2023, any additional pension they receive from the underpin (estimated or in payment), must be split with their ex-spouse, in accordance with any pension sharing order.

110. The issue of a pension sharing order results in a pension credit (the amount the ex-spouse or former civil partner receives) and a pension debit (the amount taken from the member to go to the ex-spouse or former civil partner). Regulations 12(5) and 12(6) however only refer to the pension credit, and not to any pension debit. The government is proposing to amend Regulation 12 so that it can now apply to both a pension credit and debit. This will ensure that a pension sharing order can be implemented in respect of LGPS benefits.

- 111. In cases where the pension sharing order sets a fixed amount, instead of a percentage, the appropriate amount is the lesser of the fixed amount or the cash equivalent of the relevant benefits. Where the appropriate amount is the fixed amount, it is not proposed that administering authorities need to revisit pension debits. Where the appropriate amount is the cash equivalent, the proposal is that administering authorities do need to revisit pension debits, as it is possible that the cash equivalent may now be above the fixed amount, if the member has for example received a significant top-up from the McCloud remedy.
- 112. We also believe that the member's pension needs to be recalculated in instances where that pension was a tier 3 pension that was suspended before 1 October 2023, where the member trivially commuted the pension before 1 October 2023, and where the member died before 1 October 2023.
- 113. The government's view is that where member pensions are recalculated using a recalculated pension debit, this applies to related benefits of survivor pensions, trivial commutation lump sums, deferred/pensioner death grants, transfers out and interfund adjustments. If an overpayment is created by the recalculated pension debit, it is expected that administering authorities will make reasonable efforts to recover the overpayment, as they would any other overpayment.
- 114. The proposal amends Regulation 12 to give effect to these scenarios.

Q36 – Do you agree with the government's proposal for pension debits and credits?

Death grants on 30 September 2023

115. Regulation 8(1)(b) of the 2023 Regulations – Survivor benefits in respect of members who died before 1st October 2023 – applies to members where a survivor pension was paid before 1st October 2023. However, the 2013 Regulations lay down that survivor pensions come into payment the day after a death. The combination of the two regulations means that deaths on 30th September 2023 would not be covered, when this was not the original policy intent. The government is proposing to amend Regulation 8(1)(b) so that deaths on 30th September 2023 are covered.

Q37 – Do you agree with the government's proposal to cover deaths on

Interest on Club transfers

116. Club transfers are where members transfer pension benefits between certain schemes who have joined the Public Sector Transfers Club. Regulation 14(3) of the 2023 Regulations – Interest on payments under the statutory underpin - says that "an administering authority must take reasonable steps to pay interest in respect of the amount to be paid to the scheme under regulation 10(5) (transfers out)", but this is contrary to the Public Sector Transfer Club Memorandum as issued by the Cabinet Office. The Club Memorandum at paragraphs 4.41 and 4.22 states that interest should not apply on Club transfers, except where the transfer was completed before 1 October 2023 and the receiving scheme was not a "remedy scheme" (i.e., a scheme subject to the McCloud remedy).

117. The government proposes to remove this inconsistency, and confirm that interest should not apply on such transfers, except where the transfer completed before 1 October 2023 and the receiving scheme was not a remedy scheme. This would require an exception to Regulation 14(3).

Q38 – Do you agree with the government's proposal to clarify if interest applies on Club transfers?

Interest on Part 4 tax losses

118. Part 4 tax losses can occur where a member may have overpaid annual allowance or lifetime allowance charges as a result of the application of the McCloud remedy. Treasury Direction 37 of the Public Service Pensions (Exercise of Powers, Compensation and Information) Directions 2022 says that LGPS regulations must make provision for certain rules regarding interest on McCloud payments. Direction 39(2) says that the LGPS Regulations must include provision about the periods over which interest must be calculated in relation to specified relevant amounts.

However, Regulation 14 of the 2023 Regulations does not cover direct compensation for a part 4 tax loss, which is a "relevant amount".

119. The government's proposal is to amend the LGPS Regulations to cover interest on compensation payments made under section 82(1) of the Public Service Pensions and Judicial Offices Act 2022, including part 4 tax losses. This would require that interest is calculated either from the date direct financial loss occurred or the date overpayment was made, up until the date of payment.

Q39 – Do you agree with the government's proposal to include part 4 tax losses in the 2023 regulations?

Transfers from other public service schemes for members over 65 years old

- 120. Regulation 4G of the 2014 Regulations states that an eligible member's underpin date is at a maximum age 65, or earlier if the member leaves active membership or takes flexible retirement. This reflects that a member's normal retirement age under the previous scheme would have been 65.
- 121. If a member joins the LGPS after age 65, they would not build up any benefits to be protected by the remedy. However, if a member transfers in from another public service scheme after age 65, that member may have protected benefits, from their prior service before and after age 65, that go beyond the LGPS cut-off of age 65. Currently there is no mechanism to give such a member an underpin date, provisional underpin amount or provisional assumed benefits.
- 122. The government proposes to create a new mechanism to give such members an underpin date that is the date on which the transfer payment was made. Specifically, this would be an amendment of Regulation 4G of the 2014 Regulations, to add this new definition of underpin date, and to require that calculations made under this regulation must be made in accordance with actuarial guidance.
- 123. The government then intends to update McCloud guidance to cover this scenario, and to explain its interpretation of how a provisional underpin amount and provisional assumed benefits would be calculated for such a member.

Q40 – Do you agree with the government's proposal for transfers from other public service schemes for members over 65 years old?

6. Other regulation changes

124. The government intends to make several technical changes to the LGPS Regulations. Most of these proposals do not reflect new or changed policy, but are intended to fix known issues raised by administering authorities and administrators.

Retrospective directions

125. Under paragraph 3 of Part 2 of Schedule 3 to the 2013 Regulations, the Secretary of State may, by a written direction, substitute a different administering authority as the appropriate administering authority for a person or class of person. Paragraph 4 sets out what the direction must include and how the government must consult with affected parties.

126. The government proposes to amend paragraph 4, to clarify that such directions may be retrospective i.e., the direction may be issued after the date on which it directs the substitution of one administering authority for another. This clarification is in response to recent applications for directions, where the request relates to a past event, or there is not enough time to issue the direction before the event that requires a direction.

Combined County Authorities

127. The government proposes an update to Part 1 of Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations, to include as scheme employers the combined county authorities established under section 9(1) of the Levelling Up and Regeneration Act 2023. The intent is to include these newly-created authorities as employers in the LGPS.

Welsh Corporate Joint Committees

128. The government proposes an update to paragraph 6 of Part 2 to Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations, to cover companies under the control of newly-created Welsh Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs). Corporate Joint Committees are bodies created under the Local Government and

Elections (Wales) Act 2021, to enable local authorities in Wales to collaborate on economic development.

129. The 4 CJCs are already listed in part 1 of Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations, as scheme employers which must (offer the LGPS). Part 2 of Schedule 2 of the 2013 Regulations lists designating bodies (employers that can nominate employees for access to the LGPS), and in particular covers companies under the control of Part 1 employers, but has inadvertently missed companies under the control of CJCs. The proposal is therefore to change paragraph 6 of Part 2 of Schedule 2, to cover companies under the control of a body listed in paragraphs 6 to 28. The intended effect is that companies under the control of North Wales, Mid Wales, South East Wales and South West Wales Corporate Joint Committees would also be covered by Part 2, and would be able to nominate their employees for the LGPS.

Exiting employers

- 130. The government proposes a small update to Regulation 64 of the 2013 Regulations, to clarify the current regulations on exiting employers and deferred debt agreements. Deferred debt agreements allow employers who leave the LGPS and have an outstanding payment to spread the cost over time.
- 131. Regulation 64(1)(b) defines an exiting employer as one that has no active members in a fund, even if they have some in another fund. However, regulation 64(7B)(a) says that an administering authority may only enter into a deferred debt agreement with an exiting employer when the last active member has left the scheme. This inconsistency means that if an employer leaves one fund, but still has some active members in another fund, they are prevented from using a deferred debt agreement for the fund they leave.
- 132. The government proposes to update regulation 64(7B)(a) to read "when the last active member has left the relevant fund", which will align with regulation 64(1)(b). It is also intended that regulation 64(7E)(a) is amended to read "new active members in the relevant fund".

De-minimis payments for pre-2008 leavers

133. Regulation 34(1)(c) of the 2013 Regulations allows for the commutation of a small pension under the Registered Pension Schemes (Authorised Payments) Regulations 2009, but there is no such option for leavers before 1 April 2008. This adds to administration costs for

administering authorities as very small pensions must continue to be paid, rather than commuted.

134. The government proposes to allow for commutation for pre-2008 leavers too. The proposal is to amend Regulation 3 of the 2014 LGPS Regulations ("Membership before 1st April 2014"), to mirror regulation 34(1) (c) of the 2013 LGPS Regulations.

Additional Voluntary Payments (AVCs) and transfers

- 135. Regulation 17(10) of the 2013 Regulations requires that where a member transfers their main pension benefits out of the LGPS, the member must also transfer out any balance in their AVC account.
- 136. To align with the Freedom and Choice reforms, which aim to give people more options for how they manage their pension savings, the government proposes this requirement is removed, so that, if they wish to do so, a member who transfers out may keep their AVC within the LGPS.
- 137. A member who does so will not be able to purchase additional pension with their remaining AVCs, as there would no longer be a main pension account to which these could be added. The two other options for using AVCs under current legislation a lump sum or purchasing an annuity would still be available in line with Regulation 17(7) of the 2013 Regulations.

Pre-2014 AVCs

- 138. The government is proposing to clarify that deferred members who left active membership of the LGPS before 1 April 2014 can use any AVCs made to buy additional pension in the LGPS.
- 139. The intent is to help members who are not able to take all of their AVCs as a tax-free lump-sum, and are left with AVCs which cannot be used to buy an annuity as the amount is too small. Currently, buying additional pension is not allowed, and the only option left is to make an unauthorised payment, which will incur tax charges to the member.
- 140. The government proposes to clarify that members to whom Regulation 31 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (S.I 1997/1612) or Regulation 30 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 (S.I. 2007/1166) applies, may elect for the value in their AVCs to be used to

provide additional pension under the earlier regulations, when taking payment of their AVCs at the same time as deferred benefits.

Lifetime allowance

- 141. The lifetime allowance (LTA) was the amount of pension (excluding state pension) that could be crystallised over an individual's lifetime before incurring tax. The lifetime allowance charge was the charge applied when pension benefits were crystallised and the LTA was exceeded. The last set rates for the LTA charge were 55% on amounts taken as a lump sum and 25% on amounts taken as pension.
- 142. The LTA charge was abolished from 6 April 2023, with the new rate being set as the marginal tax rate of an individual. The LTA itself was abolished from 6 April 2024 (by the Finance Act 2024). At the same time as the abolition of the LTA, the lump sum allowance (LSA) and lump sum and death benefit allowance (LSDBA) were introduced, which set the limit on the lump sums that individuals can receive before incurring tax charges (and not counting standard pension payments). The LSA was set at £268,275, 25% of the standard LTA prior to its abolition, and the LSDBA set at £1,073,100 (the same value as the LTA prior to abolition).
- 143. As part of the changes to pensions tax enacted by the Finance Act 2024, a new type of authorised payment was established the pension commencement excess lump sum (PCELS). The PCELS allows individuals who have already used up their LSA or LSDBA to take further lump sums from their pensions, which are to be taxed at their marginal rate. Under the legislation, it is up to schemes to determine:
- a. Whether they will allow PCELSs to be paid from their scheme;
- b. If so, whether a limit will apply to the amount that can be paid from the scheme as a PCELS.
- 144. The government is now proposing changes to the LGPS Regulations to reflect the removal of the LTA and LTA charge, provide clarity on the definition of Benefit Crystallisation Events (BCEs), and define the approach to pension commencement excess lump sums (PCELS).
- 145. Those changes are summarised as follows:
- a. Regulation 50 of the 2013 Regulations and the equivalents to it (to the extent that they have been preserved) in the 1997 and 2008 Regulations to be revoked, and the accompanying actuarial guidance issued under Regulation 50 to be withdrawn.

- b. The definition of BCE in Schedule 1 of the 2013 Regulations to be amended to have the same meaning as in Schedule 32 of the Finance Act 2004.
- c. Updated actuarial guidance on the approach to PCELSs to be issued by the department, replacing previously issued transitional actuarial guidance on PCELSs.
- 146. In respect of the LGPS and PCELSs, the proposal is that PCELSs will be paid from the scheme, subject to the following conditions:
- a. The maximum lump sum members will be allowed to take will be 25% of the capital value of the benefits they are crystallising, subject to contracting out limits.
- b. That lump sum will first be taken out of their LSA and LSDBA.
- c. Once their LSA and LSBDA has been filled/used, the remainder of that lump sum will be paid as a PCELS.
- d. That PCELS lump sum will be taxed at the member's marginal rate.
- 147. The proposal above reflects a desire to maintain the same proportion of benefits that members can crystallise at each BCE before exceeding tax relief (see regulation 33(2) of LGPS Regulations 2013).
- 148. Prior to the abolition of the LTA, members in the LGPS could take 100% of benefits that exceeded the LTA as a lifetime allowance excess lump sum (LTAELS), subject to contracting out limits (defined in actuarial guidance issued under Regulation 50 of the 2013 Regulations). An LTAELS was the equivalent lump sum to the PCELS prior to the LTA's abolition. Whilst acknowledging that the proposed PCELS approach is more restrictive than the LTAELS approach, it should be noted that the tax treatment of the two lump sums is different. Prior to the aforementioned pensions tax changes, LTAELSs were taxed at 55% of their value, whilst PCELSs are taxed at a member's marginal rate of income tax (a current maximum of 45%).
- 149. The Finance Act 2024 contains a transitional provision which allows scheme administrator to pay PCELSs in line with the scheme's prior rules on LTAELSs. On 15 May 2024, the Local Government Association circulated a communication to administering authorities (AAs) on behalf of the then-Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities, which confirmed that AAs must offer members who are retiring the ability to take the benefits that would have been in excess of the LTA as a PCELS, subject to the general rules that apply to PCELSs. These transitional provisions would be superseded by any new rules.

150. Subject to this consultation, the intention is that a confirmed approach on PCELSs will be reflected in an updated version of the actuarial guidance issued under regulation 33(3) of the LGPS Regulations 2013, and the equivalents to it (to the extent that they have been preserved). That guidance will include advice on the treatment of active cases where the transitional PCELS guidance is in place.

5-year refunds

- 151. The government understands that the widely held interpretation of Regulation 18(5) of the 2013 Regulations is that, unless a member has already requested payment, it requires an administering authority to pay the refund of any contributions to a member on the specific date of either the expiry of a period of 5 years beginning with the date the member's active membership ceased, or, if the member would turn 75 before then, the day before their 75th birthday.
- 152. The government desires to give administering authorities greater flexibility in making payments and provide assurance as to when they can do so, and so proposes to amend the Regulations to achieve the following:
- a. The removal of the requirement that unless a member has already requested payment, administering authorities must pay the refund of contributions on the "specific date".
- b. Administering authorities to be provided with a power to pay the refund of contributions at any point after the expiry of the period of 5 years beginning with the date the person's active membership ceased. This is intended to ensure administering authorities must pay the refund either on request or on the day before the member's 75th birthday (as is currently required by the Regulations), and may also choose to pay the refund after the expiry of the period of 5 years beginning with the day the person's active membership ceased.
- c. Regulation 19(1) of the LGPS Regulations 2013 to be amended to provide that no refund of contributions is payable from the date that a person attains the age of 75. This is to avoid payments being made that would conflict with an interpretation of the Finance Act 2004 that those payments cannot be made to individuals aged over 75.
- d. A new requirement to be placed on administering authorities, that they must take reasonable steps to obtain the information necessary to pay the refund on the day before the member attains the age of 75.

Child's pensions under the 1995 and 1997 Regulations

153. The government's view is that currently, a child's short-term pension in the 1995 and 1997 Schemes will be paid in full, even if the beneficiary ceases to be an eligible child part-way through that period. Whilst it is expected that this situation would only occur in a small number of cases, the government considers that payments made to a beneficiary who is no longer an eligible child are likely to be unauthorised under Section 164 of the Finance Act 2004.

154. As such, the government is proposing to amend the 1995 and 1997 Regulations (through the 2014 Regulations) to clarify that a child's pension would be paid only for the duration that a beneficiary is an eligible child.

155. The government is not proposing that this amendment is retrospectively, as it does not wish to put any recipients of past pensions in a worse position.

Retained EU law

156. The government proposes to remove the following references to the European Union (EU):

Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/2356)

- Regulation 3(7)(b) and (c) [Active membership]
- Regulation 18(1)(d) [Active membership]
- Regulation 20(2)(j)(iv) [Meaning of pensionable pay]
- Regulation 100(2)(b)
- Regulation 102 [EU Scheme Transfers]
- Schedule 1 definition of IRMP
- Schedule 1 definition of European pensions institution

Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendments) Regulations 2014 (SI 2014/525)

- Regulation 4(5)(d)
- Regulation 9(3)

Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (SI 2016/946)

- Regulation 3(2)(b) and (c)
- Regulation 6(2)(c)

Bereaved paternity leave

157. The government proposes to amend the LGPS definition of paternity leave to reflect the Paternity Leave (Bereavement) Act 2024 that will give bereaved fathers and partners a right to Paternity Leave from the first day of employment if they are in the tragic circumstances of losing the mother or primary adopter of their child in the time surrounding birth or adoption.

158. The definition is to be amended so that "Paternity leave" means leave under section 80A or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996.

Amendments from the Joint Committee for Statutory Instruments

159. The Joint Committee for Statutory Instruments, which reviews statutory instruments for clarity of legal drafting, has proposed minor updates to the LGPS regulations. The government plans to accept the updates in full. The proposed changes are to regulations 27, 41, 42, 44, 45, 47 and 48 of the 2013 Regulations, following amendments made by S.I 2023/273 in relation to the revaluation adjustment.

- Q41 Do you agree with the proposal to omit Regulation 50 and the equivalents to it (to the extent that they have been preserved) in the 1997 and 2008 Regulations?
- Q42 Do you agree with the proposal to withdraw the actuarial guidance linked to Regulation 50?
- Q43 Do you agree with the proposal to amend the definition of BCE in the 2013 Regulations?
- Q44 Do you agree with the proposed approach to PCELSs?
- Q45 Do you agree with the proposed approach to issue updated actuarial guidance on the treatment of PCELSs?

Q46 – Do you agree with the proposed amendments to the Regulations?

Q47 – Do you have any comments on the proposals in this chapter?

7. Administrative impact of proposals

- 160. The government recognises that the proposed Statutory Instrument, which can be found alongside this consultation document, would make several changes to LGPS Regulations at once. Some of these changes have been long discussed, but some are new proposals, and all will require administrators to adapt existing processes or create new ones.
- 161. The government believes that these changes are important to improve access to and the running of the scheme, and proposes to implement most of these changes through the draft Statutory Instrument later this year.
- 162. However, the government recognises that there is already significant pressure on LGPS administrators, particularly in the context of McCloud remedy calculations. Accordingly, the government is seeking views on the cumulative administrative burden of the proposals, and in particular if there are areas that administrators consider more complex than others that may need to be introduced later. The government will consider all responses to this consultation and consider if some of the changes would be better introduced through a staggered approach.
- 163. The government does not propose to cover any additional cost generated by the proposals in this consultation. The government's view is that, unless otherwise specified, the costs of implementing these proposals are costs of administration of the scheme. Therefore, they would be chargeable to the LGPS pension funds and are not in scope of the New Burdens Doctrine.
 - Q48 Do you have any comments about the impact the combined proposals in this document will have on administration?
 - Q49 Are there any areas where you believe the proposals are significantly more complex and would benefit from a later implementation date?
 - Q50 Do you have any comments on the proposed approach to cost?

8. Public Sector Equality Duty

164. Under the Public Sector Equality Duty ("PSED"), the government is required to have due regard to the need to:

- eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by the Equality Act 2010
- advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it
- foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and people who do not share it

165. The protected characteristics which should be considered are:

- age
- disability
- sex
- gender reassignment
- · marriage or civil partnership
- pregnancy and maternity
- race
- religion or belief
- sexual orientation

166. The government has access to up-to-date data on the age and sex of LGPS members, but not complete or up-to-date data on the other protected characteristics. Outlined below are the PSED considerations arising from the data the government does have, but respondents to this consultation are encouraged to share any evidence they may have on the potential impact of the proposals on any of the above protected characteristics.

Survivor benefits and death grants

167. The proposals on survivor benefits and death grants in section 1 are particularly focussed on ensuring there is no discrimination in the LGPS regarding entitlement to survivor benefits. This section outlines the government's approach to PSED considerations regarding the proposals.

- 168. The proposal to equalise pension entitlement is intended to ensure there is no discrimination on the basis of sex or sexual orientation when pension entitlement is calculated. The equalisation (where there is a difference in entitlement due to sex or sexual orientation) is intended to uplift the pension entitlement of survivors to the highest entitlement currently provided to any group of survivors. As the proposals are only intended to uplift the entitlement, the government does not consider that this would have any adverse impacts on other members, both generally or on the basis of protected characteristics.
- 169. The proposal to remove the nomination requirement for cohabitees is intended to ensure there is no discrimination against members in cohabiting relationships and is put forward in light of the Brewster (2017) ruling. The decision to not backdate the change in the case of the 2011 Regulations is not viewed by government to be discriminatory, as payments under those regulations are discretionary, not an entitlement.
- 170. The proposal to remove the age 75 cap on death grants is intended to align the LGPS Regulations with Normal and State Pension Age changes, and underlying HMT legislation. The intention of backdating the change to all deaths of eligible members on or after 1 April 2014 is to align the LGPS with the underlying HMT legislation in a manner consistent with the LGPS NI and other public sector pension schemes.
- 171. The proposal to change death grant rules regarding personal representatives is not seen to apply to any specific group of people, as defined by protected characteristics.

Gender Pension Gap

- 172. The proposals on the Gender Pension Gap are about improving pension access for women members, and so the protected characteristic of sex is clearly relevant.
- 173. The proposal to make unpaid leave under 30 days automatically pensionable will apply equally to any member, regardless of their gender (and indeed any other protected characteristic), but as in 'Chapter 2 Authorised absences under 31 days', it is mostly women who take such unpaid leave in the scheme. The government considers this proposal to have a positive impact, in that members will have small gaps in their pension accrual filled in, but recognises that for the member this will mean having to make employee contributions for any such gaps, compared to making no contributions and accruing no pension.
- 174. The proposal to change how the cost of unpaid leave over 30 days is calculated, when the member has made an election within the time-limit, will

have both positive and negative equality impacts. As in 'Chapter 2 – Cost of buying back pension lost in an unpaid break of over 30 days', GAD has performed analysis of the proposal and the impacts according to the protected characteristics of sex and age, but has not been able to do the same for other protected characteristics where data is not available. This analysis shows that the proposal will make the cost of buying back cheaper for older members and for women, which means that it will be more expensive for younger members and men. As the government understands that most unpaid leave is taken by women, this is considered to be a reasonable trade-off to make, to address a disproportionately low level of buying back unpaid leave, and permitted positive action under section 158 of the Equality Act 2010.

175. The proposal to make additional maternity leave, adoption leave and shared parental leave without pay fully pensionable only has positive PSED impacts on individual members, as it will improve pension provision and does not make pension provision worse or more expensive for any member. As shared parental leave and adoption leave (which do not have to be taken by a woman) are included, this change would benefit both men and women.

176. The proposal for gender pension gap reporting does not directly impact individual members' benefits and so there are no PSED considerations to highlight here, although reporting may highlight areas for future work.

Opt-outs

177. The proposal for opt-out reporting does not directly impact individual members' benefits and so there are no PSED considerations to highlight here, although reporting may highlight areas for future work to support members to remain in the scheme.

Forfeiture

178. The proposal to remove the requirement that a member must have left employment because of the offence for forfeiture to be possible will have direct impact on some individual members. These proposals mean, there are instances where a member may now come in scope of forfeiture where they would not have done previously. The government considers this to be a consequence of the member's actions - committing a relevant offence - which are unrelated to their protected characteristics. The other proposals for forfeiture do not have direct impact on members, and are about making the progress easier for employers to navigate.

McCloud remedy

- 179. The McCloud remedy addresses previous discrimination in the scheme on the protected characteristic of age. PSED analysis was conducted as part of the LGPS remedy^[footnote 1].
- 180. The proposals within this document are intended to make sure the remedy is operating correctly in all circumstances. As such, the government considers that these proposals should only have positive PSED impacts, in that they extend the remedy.

Other regulation changes

- 181. The proposals on written directions, Combined County Authorities, Welsh Corporate Joint Committees and exiting employers do not have direct impact on members, and there are no PSED impacts identified.
- 182. The proposals on de minimis payments before 2008, AVCs and transfers and pre-2014 AVCs do have a direct impact on members, and are about extending choices available to members. The government does not hold data on the protected characteristics of members who would be affected (such as members who left the scheme before 2008 with a small pension, or those who hold AVCs and are thinking about transferring out their main LGPS benefits), but because the proposals extend member choice, the government believe there can only be positive PSED impacts.
- 183. The proposals on the Lifetime Allowance are to reflect wider changes in the tax landscape. Data on the protected characteristics of LGPS members who may be affected by the changes is not held by the government. The criteria for being affected by the proposal is driven by the monetary value of benefits being taken rather than any protected characteristic (£268,275 for the Lump Sum Allowance and £1,073,100 for the Lump Sum and Death Benefit Allowance), although it is fair to assume that it will generally be older members of the scheme affected who will have built up such benefits.
- 184. The proposals on 5-year refunds will give administering authorities more flexibility over the timeframe in which refunds of contributions must be paid. Data on the protected characteristics of members who have been waiting for refunds to be paid is not held by government, because these members have typically not been paid because there are particular difficulties in locating the right person to pay.

185. The proposals to amend the 1995 and 1997 Regulations regarding children's pensions have a direct impact on members on the basis of age. The government considers that the basis of the amendment of the Regulations (to avoid unauthorised payments) justifies the changes being proposed.

186. The government does not consider the proposals to remove all references to the European Union to have any PSED impacts.

Q51 – Do you consider that there are any particular groups with protected characteristics who would either benefit or be disadvantaged by any of the proposals? If so, please provide relevant data or evidence.

Q52 – Do you agree to being contacted regarding your response if further engagement is needed?

Summary of proposals and questions

Summary of proposals

	Proposal title	Proposal summary	Qs
Chapter 1 – Survivor Pensions and Death Grants	Survivor benefits (Pension entitlement equalisation)	Modification of the LGPS Regulations to ensure that the	Q1
		survivor pension payable to the survivor of a marriage or civil	Q2
		partnership with a member is calculated in the same way,	Q3
		regardless of the sex or sexual orientation of the member or survivor. This equalisation is proposed to be to the highest level of entitlement currently available (given the date of the marriage or civil partnership) and to be backdated.	Q4
	Survivor benefits (Cohabitee	Removal of the requirement for a signed nomination form in the	Q5

	Proposal title	Proposal summary	Qs
	survivor pensions)	case of qualifying cohabitee survivors, retrospective for any individual who stopped being a member between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014. Additionally, amendment of the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 to remove reference to a nomination requirement, with no retrospective application.	Q6 Q7
	Death grants (age 75 cap)	Removal of the age 75 cut-off on eligibility for death grants,	Q8
		backdated for all deaths on or after 1 April 2014.	Q9
			Q10
			Q11
	Death grants (personal representatives)	Removal of the 2-year limit on administering authorities identifying personal representatives, applicable for all death grants that haven't yet been paid.	Q12 Q13
Chapter 2 – Gender Pension Gap	Authorised absences under 30 days	That any unpaid leave under 30 days is to be considered normal pensionable earnings, to be calculated either by assumed pensionable pay or actual pay lost.	Q14 Q15
	Cost of buying back pension lost in an unpaid break of over 30 days	Aligning the cost of buying back unpaid leave over 30 days with standard member contribution rates. Extending the time-limit to buy back lost pension from 30 days to 1 year. Removal of the three-year time-limit on compulsory employer contributions on unpaid leave.	Q16 Q17 Q18

	Proposal title	Proposal summary	Qs
	Additional 13 weeks of parent- related leave	Including all periods of additional maternity, adoption and shared parental leave without pay in the definition of child-related leave.	Q19
	Making gender pension gap reporting mandatory	Making gender pension gap reporting mandatory in the LGPS, with data reported from the 2025 valuation, to be applied to employers of over 100 employees. For the gender pension gap and the gender pensions savings gap to be defined.	Q20 Q21 Q22 Q23 Q24
Chapter 3 – Opt-outs	Publication of opt- out data in the Annual Report	For opt-outs-related data to be required to be published in administering authority Annual Reports.	Q25 Q26 Q27
	Collection of additional opt-out data	The publishing of a Gov Form, to be used by administering authorities when individuals opt out of the scheme.	Q28 Q29 Q30
Chapter 4 – Forfeiture	Removing the requirement that a member must have left employment because of the offence	Concerning the forfeiture of pension rights, for the requirement of a member to have left employment because of the relevant offence in order for an LGPS employer to be able to make an application for a forfeiture certificate or to recover against a monetary obligation.	Q31
	Removing the time limit to make a forfeiture application	To remove the current three month time limit from the date of a conviction on an employer to make an application for a forfeiture certificate.	Q32

	Proposal title	Proposal summary	Qs
	Revoking regulation 92	As the government believes regulation 92 is not being used, for it to be revoked.	Q33
	Forfeiture in relation to benefits accrued in earlier schemes	In order for the other amendments to have full effect, for the equivalent modifications to provisions across earlier schemes to be made.	Q34
	Forfeiture guidance	For forfeiture guidance to be published to assist employers in making applications.	Q35
Chapter 5 – McCloud Remedy	Divorce credits	For the approach to pension debits and credits to be clarified, so the LGPS facilitates compliance with pension sharing orders.	Q36
	Deaths on 30 September 2023	Clarification of the approach to be taken regarding deaths on 30 September 2023.	Q37
	Interest on Club transfers	Confirmation that interest should not apply to Club transfers, other than in specific cases.	Q38
	Part 4 tax losses	Part 4 tax losses to be covered by the 2023 Regulations.	Q39
	Transfers from other public service schemes for members over 65 years old	Members who join the LGPS after age 65 to be given an underpin date, with consequential calculations to be made in accordance with actuarial guidance (to be provided by government).	Q40
Chapter 6 – Other Regulation Changes	Retrospective directions	To allow substitutions of administering authorities for persons or classes of persons to be made retrospectively.	
	Combined County Authorities	To add combined county authorities to the list of scheme	

Proposal title	Proposal summary	Qs
	employers in the LGPS.	
Welsh Corporate Joint Committees	To allow companies under the control of Welsh Corporate Joint Committees to offer the LGPS to their employees.	
Exiting Employers	To align the definition of an exiting employer and the regulations surrounding deferred debt agreements for exiting employers.	
De-minimis payments for pre- 2008 leavers	To allow leavers before 1 April 2008 to commute a small pension.	
Additional Voluntary Payments (AVCs) and transfer	To allow members who transfer out of the LGPS to keep their AVC in the LGPS.	
Pre-2014 AVCs	To clarify that deferred members can use AVC to buy additional pension in the LGPS.	
-		Q41 Q42
	pension commencement excess lump sums (PCELSs).	Q43
	idilip sullis (i OLLOS).	Q44
		Q45
5-year refunds	To clarify the government's approach to 5-year refunds, particularly in the time limits applied to payments.	Q46
Child's Pensions	To amend the 1995 and 1997 Regulations to stop child's pensions being paid to beneficiaries who become adults during pension payment, as these payments are	

Proposal title	Proposal summary	Qs
	unauthorised under the 2004 Finance Act.	
Retained EU Law	To remove references to the European Union from the LGPS Regulations.	
Bereaved Paternity Leave	To amend the LGPS definition of paternity leave to reflect the Paternity Leave (Bereavement) Act 2024.	
Amendments from the Joint Committee for Statutory Instruments (JCSI)	To improve clarity of legal drafting as recommended by the JCSI.	Q47
Administrative impact of proposals	To seek views on the cumulative administrative burden of the proposals, and if there are areas that administrators consider more complex than others that may need to be introduced later.	Q48 Q49 Q50
Public Sector Equality Duty	To seek views on if PSED has been considered effectively.	Q51
Contact	To understand if respondents would like to be contacted to further discuss their responses if needed.	Q52

Summary of questions

- Q1 Do you agree with the government's proposed amendment of survivor benefits rules?
- Q2 Do you have any comments on the intended approach to equalising survivor benefits?
- Q3 Do you have any comments on the administrative impact , particularly in identifying cases where calculations of past benefits would need to be

revisited?

- Q4 Do you have any further comments on the proposed changes?
- Q5 Do you agree with the government's proposals to formalise the removal of the nomination requirement?
- Q6 Do you have any comments on the government's proposals to formalise the removal of the nomination requirement?
- Q7 Do you have any comments on the proposed approach to backdating?
- Q8 Do you agree with the proposed amendments to death grants?
- Q9 Do you have any comments on the government's proposals to remove the age 75 cut-off from the LGPS Regulations?
- Q10 Do you have any comments on the proposed approach to backdating?
- Q11 Do you have any comments on the administrative impact, particularly in identifying historic cases where death grants that were not paid would now be paid?
- Q12 Do you agree with the proposal to remove the two-year limit?
- Q13 Do you have any comments on the government's proposal to remove the two-year limit?
- Q14 Do you agree that the LGPS Regulations should be updated so that any unpaid leave under 31 days is pensionable as a way to address the gender pension gap?
- Q15 Do you agree the government should use the actual lost pay option when calculating contributions, or do you think APP should be the chosen option? Please explain the reasons for your view.
- Q16 Do you agree with the proposal to align the cost of buying back unpaid leave over 30 days with standard member contribution rates?
- Q17 Do you agree with the proposal to change the time-limit for buying back unpaid leave pension absences from 30 days to 1 year?
- Q18 Do you agree with removing the three year limit on employer contributions in Regulation 15(6)?
- Q19 Do you agree with updating the definition of child-related leave to include all periods of additional maternity, adoption and shared parental leave without pay?

- Q20 Do you agree that gender pension gap reporting should be mandatory in the LGPS?
- Q21 Do you agree that the 2025 valuation (and associated fund annual reports) is preferable?
- Q22 Do you agree with the threshold of 100 employees for defining which employers must report on their gender pension gap?
- Q23 Do you agree with the gender pension gap definition being 'the percentage difference in the pension income for men and women over a typical working life'?
- Q24 Do you agree with the gender pension savings gap being 'the percentage difference in the pension savings accrued over one year for men and women'?
- Q25 Do you agree that the annual report is the best method of reporting data on those who choose to opt-out of the scheme?
- Q26 Do you foresee any issues with administering authorities' ability to gather data on opt-outs?
- Q27 When updating the annual report guidance to reflect opt-out data collection, what information would be most useful to include?
- Q28 Do you agree with the proposal to collect additional data about those opting out of the scheme?
- Q29 Are you an employer, part of an administering authority or member of a pensions board?
- Q30 Do you have any comments on the collection of additional information?
- Q31 Do you agree that the government should amend regulations 91 and 93 of the 2013 Regulations to remove the requirement that the member must have left employment because of the offence in order for an LGPS employer to be able to make an application for a forfeiture certificate or to recover against a monetary obligation?
- Q32 Do you agree that the three month time limit for an LGPS employer to make an application for a forfeiture certificate should be removed?
- Q33 Do you agree that Regulation 92 of the 2013 Regulations should be revoked?
- Q34 Do you agree that in order to give full effect to the proposed amendments equivalent modifications should apply to earlier schemes?

- Q35 Do you agree that there should be forfeiture guidance to assist employers in making applications?
- Q36 Do you agree with the government's proposal for pension debits and credits?
- Q37 Do you agree with the government's proposal to cover deaths on 30 September 2023?
- Q38 Do you agree with the government's proposal to clarify if interest applies on Club Transfers?
- Q39 Do you agree with the government's proposal to include part 4 tax losses in the 2023 regulations?
- Q40 Do you agree with the government's proposal for transfers from other public service schemes for members over 65 years old?
- Q41 Do you agree with the proposal to omit Regulation 50 and the equivalents to it (to the extent that they have been preserved) in the 1997 and 2008 Regulations?
- Q42 Do you agree with the proposal to withdraw the actuarial guidance linked to Regulation 50?
- Q43 Do you agree with the proposal to amend the definition of BCE in the 2013 Regulations?
- Q44 Do you agree with the proposed approach to PCELSs?
- Q45 Do you agree with the proposed approach to issue updated actuarial guidance on the treatment of PCELSs?
- Q46 Do you agree with the proposed amendments to the Regulations?
- Q47 Do you have any comments on the proposals in this chapter?
- Q48 Do you have any comments about the impact the combined proposals in this document will have on administration?
- Q49 Are there any areas where you believe the proposals are significantly more complex and would benefit from a later implementation date?
- Q50 Do you have any comments on the proposed approach to cost?
- Q51 Do you consider that there are any particular groups with protected characteristics who would either benefit or be disadvantaged by any of the proposals? If so, please provide relevant data or evidence.

Q52 – Do you agree to be contacted regarding your response if further engagement is needed?

About this consultation

This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere to the Consultation Principles issued by the Cabinet Office.

Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their conclusions when they respond.

Information provided in response to this consultation may be published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Environmental Information Regulations 2004 and UK data protection legislation. In certain circumstances this may therefore include personal data when required by law.

If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware that, as a public authority, the Department is bound by the information access regimes and may therefore be obliged to disclose all or some of the information you provide. In view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the Department.

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government will at all times process your personal data in accordance with UK data protection legislation and in the majority of circumstances this will mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. A full privacy notice is included below.

Individual responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested.

Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document and respond.

Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed the Consultation Principles? If not or you have any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact us via the complaints procedure.

Personal data

The following is to explain your rights and give you the information you are entitled to under UK data protection legislation.

Note that this section only refers to personal data (your name, contact details and any other information that relates to you or another identified or identifiable individual personally) not the content otherwise of your response to the consultation.

1. The identity of the data controller and contact details of our Data Protection Officer

The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) is the data controller. The Data Protection Officer can be contacted at dataprotection@communities.gov.uk or by writing to the following address:

Data Protection Officer
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF

2. Why we are collecting your personal data

Your personal data is being collected as an essential part of the consultation process, so that we can contact you regarding your response and for statistical purposes. We may also use it to contact you about related matters.

We will collect your IP address if you complete a consultation online. We may use this to ensure that each person only completes a survey once. We will not use this data for any other purpose.

Sensitive types of personal data

Please do not share <u>special category</u> personal data or criminal offence data if we have not asked for this unless absolutely necessary for the purposes

of your consultation response. By 'special category personal data', we mean information about a living individual's:

- race
- ethnic origin
- political opinions
- religious or philosophical beliefs
- trade union membership
- genetics
- biometrics
- health (including disability-related information)
- sex life; or
- sexual orientation.

By 'criminal offence data', we mean information relating to a living individual's criminal convictions or offences or related security measures.

3. Our legal basis for processing your personal data

The collection of your personal data is lawful under article 6(1)(e) of the UK General Data Protection Regulation as it is necessary for the performance by MHCLG of a task in the public interest/in the exercise of official authority vested in the data controller. Section 8(d) of the Data Protection Act 2018 states that this will include processing of personal data that is necessary for the exercise of a function of the Crown, a Minister of the Crown or a government department i.e. in this case a consultation.

Where necessary for the purposes of this consultation, our lawful basis for the processing of any special category personal data or 'criminal offence' data (terms explained under 'Sensitive Types of Data') which you submit in response to this consultation is as follows. The relevant lawful basis for the processing of special category personal data is Article 9(2)(g) UK GDPR ('substantial public interest'), and Schedule 1 paragraph 6 of the Data Protection Act 2018 ('statutory etc and government purposes'). The relevant lawful basis in relation to personal data relating to criminal convictions and offences data is likewise provided by Schedule 1 paragraph 6 of the Data Protection Act 2018

4. With whom we will be sharing your personal data

MHCLG may appoint a 'data processor', acting on behalf of the Department and under our instruction, to help analyse the responses to this consultation. Where we do we will ensure that the processing of your personal data remains in strict accordance with the requirements of the data protection legislation.

5. For how long we will keep your personal data, or criteria used to determine the retention period

Your personal data will be held for two years from the closure of the consultation, unless we identify that its continued retention is unnecessary before that point

6. Your rights, e.g. access, rectification, restriction, objection

The data we are collecting is your personal data, and you have considerable say over what happens to it. You have the right:

- a. to see what data we have about you
- b. to ask us to stop using your data, but keep it on record
- c. to ask to have your data corrected if it is incorrect or incomplete
- d. to object to our use of your personal data in certain circumstances
- e. to lodge a complaint with the independent Information Commissioner (ICO) if you think we are not handling your data fairly or in accordance with the law. You can contact the ICO at https://ico.org.uk/, or telephone 0303 123 1113.

Please contact us at the following address if you wish to exercise the rights listed above, except the right to lodge a complaint with the ICO: dataprotection@communities.gov.uk or

Knowledge and Information Access Team
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Fry Building
2 Marsham Street
London
SW1P 4DF

7. Your personal data will not be sent overseas

8. Your personal data will not be used for any automated decision making

9. Your personal data will be stored in a secure government IT system

We use a third-party system, Citizen Space, to collect consultation responses. In the first instance your personal data will be stored on their secure UK-based server. Your personal data will be transferred to our secure government IT system as soon as possible, and it will be stored there for two years before it is deleted.

1 <u>Equality analysis for Local Government Pension Scheme (England and Wales)</u> on addressing unlawful age discrimination: March 2023.

